l I			
1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA		
2			
3			
4	GUILLERMO RENTERIO-NOVOA	Electronically Filed NO. 6186§ 27 2013 11:44 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman	
5		Tracie K. Lindeman	
б	Appellant,	) Clerk of Supreme Court	
7	VS.	)	
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,		
9	THE STATE OF INDIVIDITY,	)	
10	Respondent.		
11			
12	APPELLANT'S	S OPENING BRIEF	
13 14	(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)		
15	DIXI ID I WOLDI	STEVEN B. WOLFSON	
16	PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF.		
17	309 South Third Street, #226	200 Lewis Avenue, 3 <sup>rd</sup> Floor	
18	Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685	Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711	
19		CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In December, 2009, 16 year-old Roxana Perez disclosed that her mother's boyfriend, Guillermo Renteria-Novoa, had been molesting her for the preceding 5 years. At the time of her disclosure, Roxana was illegally residing in the United States, pregnant<sup>1</sup>, and had been hiding the fact that, at approximately age 12, she carried on an incestuous relationship with her first cousin, Yahir. She was under a 'lot of stress'; on the verge of having to own up to conduct that would cause a great deal of strife for her and her family. V 1086. With her allegations of abuse, the family's focus quickly shifted to Guillermo and his purported misdeeds. See generally V, VI.

Roxana moved to the United States from Mexico in 2002 with her mom, Rosa; her sister, Perla; and her Aunt Janet. V 966. Roxana was approximately eight years old at the time.<sup>2</sup> V 965-66. The family resided together in a Las Vegas condominium. V 967. In 2003, Rosa, Perla, and Roxana moved out and into a nearby apartment. V 968. There, Rosa met Guillermo. V 968. The two began dating. V 969. In 2004, Rosa, Roxana, Perla, and Guillermo moved into an apartment at the University Apartments with Roxana's uncle, Manuel, and her 18-year old cousin, Yahir. V 969-70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Prosecutors successfully excluded evidence of the pregnancy. <u>See</u>, infra.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Roxana was born on August 30, 1993. V 965.

Sometime thereafter, when she was approximately 12 years old, Roxana began carrying on an intimate relationship with her cousin, Yahir. V 972-73. She and Yahir would often 'make out'. V 973. On one such occasion, when Roxana and Yahir were laying on the floor together, Guillermo walked in on them. V 973-74. Roxana did not become aware of this until some time later.

1.3

In 2005, the group moved a three bedroom apartment at the University Apartments. V 974-75. Roxana's Aunt joined them. V 975. While living at the three-bedroom apartment, Guillermo told Roxana that he walked in on her and Yahir when they were laying on the floor together. V 975-76. Roxana was "scared" that Guillermo would reveal her secret. V 976-77.

According to Roxana's trial testimony, sometime after this revelation, Guillermo began a pattern of sexually abusing her. V 978-79. Roxana testified that the encounters began in the afternoons after she returned home from school, while her mom was working. V 978; 984. Roxana claimed that Guillermo threatened to disclose her incestuous relationship with Yahir if she did not comply with his sexual requests. V 978-79; 985.

di

#### The First Incident

Roxana testified that, one afternoon when the encounters began, Guillermo took Roxana into a bedroom and told her to "put her shorts down."

1.0

V 979. He then touched her with his hands and mouth. V 979. She testified that his hands touched her 'boobs' and her vagina; that he would put his fingers inside of her vagina. V 980. Roxana indicated that Guillermo put his tongue inside her vagina and, after he turned her around and 'put her on her knees and her hands,' inside of her anus. V 982-83. She testified that Guillermo touched her in this way approximately two-three times a week. V

984.

#### The Second Incident

Roxana testified that, on another occasion, Guillermo summoned her to his room and licked her vagina, anus, and boobs. V 985. She indicated that he also put his fingers in her vagina and anus. V 985.

#### The Third Incident

Sometime in 2006, Roxana moved to the Andover Apartments with her mom and sister. V 988-89. The family lived at the Andover Apartments until the end of 2007. V 1000-01. Notably, Roxana turned 14 years old on August 30, 2007, while living at Andover. V 997. Although Guillermo did not move to Andover with the family, he would come visit. V 990. Sometimes he would come over when Roxana's mom was still at work. V 990. On one such occasion, Roxana claimed that Guillermo came over and

-8-

1.0

 forced her into a bedroom by "pushing her" and "touching her butt while she was walking around." V 990-91.

Roxana indicated that, once inside the bedroom, Guillermo made her pull down her shorts and began licking inside of her vagina. V 992. He touched her boobs and put his fingers inside of her vagina. V 992. He also put his fingers and tongue inside of her anus. V 992-93.

Roxana testified that, at some point, Guillermo moved in to the Andover apartment. V 993-94. Thereafter, Guillermo slept in the same bed as Roxana and her mom. V 994. Roxana claimed that Guillermo slept in the middle. V 994. On one such occasion, Roxana indicated that Guillermo rubbed her butt on top of her clothes. V 994. She added that he "tried to touch her vagina." V 994.

#### The Fourth Incident

One weekend at the Andover apartment while no one was home, Guillermo purportedly licked Roxana's vagina and her anus; touched her boobs; and put his fingers inside of her vagina and anus. V 995. Roxana explained that Guillermo's tongue actually penetrated her anus; and that he did so after having her get on her hands and knees. V 995-96.

Roxana added that, at some point while she was living at the Andover apartment, Guillermo directed her to touch his penis. V 996. According to

1.0

Roxana, Guillermo had her touch his penis outside of his clothes; then he would "get it out" and tell her to touch it. V 997. Eventually, Guillermo masturbated to ejaculation. V 997.

#### The Fifth Incident

Roxana testified to another encounter while the family was living at Andover; however, unlike the other incidents for which she offered no date specifications, Roxana indicated that this encounter occurred after she turned 14. V 998-99. According to Roxana, Guillermo touched her boobs, vagina, and anus with his hands. V 999-1000. She added that he licked her vagina and the inside of her anus. V 1000. She further testified that Guillermo asked her to lick his penis, but she declined. V 1000.

Roxana testified that, at the end of 2007, she moved to the Tamarus Part Apartments with her mom, and her cousin, Maritza. V 1000-01. She indicated that, while residing there, Guillermo continued to communicate with her, but that she "did not let him touch her." V 1001-03. Then, in 2008, Roxana, Rosa, and Rosa's friend moved to the Southern Cove Apartments. V 1003-04. Around this time, Roxana got a cell phone (the number for which she could not recall). V 1004. Guillermo began calling and texting her. V 1004-05. Roxana knowingly took his calls. V 1130. She sometimes called him. V 1116. Guillermo often contacted her after school to ask if she was

.13 

1.6

home and let her know he was going to come over. V 1005. Roxana would let him into her apartment, purportedly because she was concerned Guillermo would tell her family about Yahir if she did not. V 1129-31.

#### The Sixth Incident

Roxana claimed that, on one occasion while she was living at Southern Cove, Guillermo again touched her. V 1010. Roxana testified that he placed her on the bed, then licked the inside of her vagina and anus. V 1010. She indicated that he put his fingers inside of her vagina and anus, and touched her boobs. V 1010-11. Finally, Roxana testified that, on another occasion while she was living at Southern Cove, Guillermo "tried to put her hand on his penis." V 1012. She indicated that Guillermo eventually took out his penis and masturbated to the point of ejaculation. V 1012.

#### The Seventh Incident

After she turned 16, Roxana moved to the Riverbend Village Apartments. V 1013. While there, Roxana claimed that Guillermo again touched her. V 1014. She recounted an incident in November, 2009 – the last time Guillermo supposedly touched her — in which she came home from school to find Guillermo waiting for her. V 1016. Roxana indicated that, once inside the apartment, Guillermo followed her around, trying to touch her butt. V 1016. He eventually took her into her bedroom and put her on the

bed. V 1019. According to Roxana, Guillermo licked the inside of her vagina and anus, and inserted his fingers into both her vagina and anus. V 1020. He also directed her to touch his naked penis with her hand(s). V 1021.

According to Roxana, Guillermo continued to call and text her.

Roxana quit responding; at which point Guillermo called Roxana's cousin,

Maritza, and told Maritza to tell Roxana that things would 'get worse' if she

did not return his calls. V 1022. Maritza confronted Roxana about this and

Roxana told her Guillermo was "harassing" her. V 1023. Roxana said

nothing about her sexual interactions with Guillermo. V 1023.

Martiza then told Roxana's Aunt, Janet. V 1023. When Janet confronted Roxana, Roxana disclosed the fact of her relationship with Yahir as well as the fact that Guillermo had been touching her sexually. V 1024. The following day, Roxana's cousin, Jeimi took her to see a counselor. V 1026. Janet told Roxana's mom, Rosa, what was going on. V 1028. The family then summoned authorities. V 1029. Roxana provided a written statement describing her interaction(s) with Guillermo. 1030-31.

Therafter, Det. Ryan Jaeger went to Roxana's school to interview her. V 1032-33. Roxana provided Det. Jaeger with her cell phone containing voicemails and texts from Guillermo. V 1033. The voicemails and texts

1.3

revealed that, in the time preceding her disclosure(s), Guillermo had been trying to contact her, threatening to reveal her relationship with Yahir if she continued to avoid him. V 1038-43. He also sent a picture of her underwear. V 1039-42. However, none of Guillermo's recorded communications were sexual in nature. V 1130.

While Roxana's trial testimony involved a lengthy tale of extortion-

based abuse spanning a period of years, such was not always her story. She told her cousin, Maritza, that Guillermo was just harassing her. V1092. She told her Aunt only that he 'touched her.' V 1092. Roxana told the counselor that Guillermo had abused her for only one year. V 1090. She did not say anything about Guillermo touching her breasts, licking her vagina and/or

anus, or masturbating in front of her. V 1091. She told the counselor that

Guillermo touched her vagina on only three occasions. V 1092.

In her written statement to police, Roxana indicated that Guillermo touched her private parts, but mentioned nothing about him licking her vagina and/or anus, touching her breasts, or masturbating in front of her. V 1094. Roxana told Det. Jaeger that Guillermo often abused her when others were present in their apartment. V 1111. She also told Det. Jaeger that, on the last such incident, Guillermo only touched her butt and breasts. V 1113. It was not until Guillermo's preliminary hearing, when Roxana met with the

1.6

1.8

prosecutor, that she disclosed anything about vaginal and/or anal licking. V 1125-26.

Roxana indicated in her written statement that Guillermo had threatened to disclose her incestuous relationship with Yahir. V 1094. But she later told Det. Jaeger that her cousin, Maritza, actually knew about the affair with Yahir. V 1096. At trial, Roxana explained that she and Maritza had had a conversation about it, during which Maritza counseled her to stop because 'it was wrong.' V 1160. Maritza denied any such conversation and denied knowing about Roxana's relationship with Yahir. VI 1174-75; 1178.

Roxana admitted that, during her relationship with Guillermo, she "would tell him to buy [her] stuff," including a cell phone, clothes, shoes, and backpacks. V 1131-32. Guillermo complied. V 1132. Roxana also acknowledged that, as a result of her allegations against Guillermo, she and her mother were able to apply for and obtain 'U visas,' which allowed them to stay in the United States. V 1084-85; 1133.

Roxana's cousins, Maritza and Jeimi, testified that, during the time Guillermo was around their family, Roxana never indicated he was abusing her. V 1179-80; VI 1204. Maritza added that she never noticed anything out of the ordinary between Roxana and Guillermo; and that they appeared to have a 'normal' relationship, "like between a father and a daughter." V 1179.

Roxana's mother, Rosa, and her aunt, Janet, both testified to never having observed or suspected anything inappropriate between Roxana and Guillermo. VI 1192; 1195; 1224.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Prosecutors ultimately charged Guillermo with 36 Counts of Sexual Assault With a Minor Under the Age of 14 and 16; Lewdness with a Child Under the Age of 14; Sexual Assault; and Open and Gross Lewdness. I 1-3; 23-29; 40-55; 112-26; II 241-51. A jury convicted him of all counts. II 281-90. The instant appeal follows.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE PROSECUTOR'S EXCLUSION OF MINORITY PANELISTS FROM GUILLERMO'S JURY VIOLATED HIS FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

Guillermo objected to the government's peremptory excusal of minority jury panelists Ms. Martinez (69), Mr. Aguilar (68), and Ms. Temple (64).<sup>3</sup> IV 897. The trial court overruled the objection. IV 904-20. This violated his Federal and State Constitutional rights. U.S.C.A. VI, XIV; Nev. Const. Art. 1, Sect. 3, 8.

<sup>3</sup> Defense counsel also objected to the excusal of Ms. Quince (55). However, subsequent inquiry into Ms. Quince's race revealed she was not an ethnic minority.

The United States and Nevada Constitutions provide for the right to a trial by a fair and impartial jury. U.S.C.A. VI, XIV; Nev. Const. Art. 1 Sec. 3, 8. Accordingly, racial and gender discrimination in the selection of jury

members violates the defendant's rights, the jurors' rights and the state's rights to receive an impartial trial. **Batson v. Kentucky**, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

A Batson challenge involves the following three-step inquiry:

1.7 

There are three stages to a *Batson* challenge—(1) the opponent of the peremptory challenge must show 'a prima facie case of racial discrimination'; (2) the proponent of the peremptory challenge must then present a race-neutral explanation; and (3) the trial court must determine whether the parties have satisfied their respective burdens of proving or rebutting purposeful racial discrimination.

Hawkins v. State, 256 P.3d 965, 967 (Nev. 2011).

## 1. Prima facie case of racial discrimination.

The prosecutor used roughly one-third of her peremptory challenges to excuse minority panelists. Accordingly, the defense made out a prima facie case of racial discrimination.

### 2. Race-neutral explanations for the excusals.

The prosecutor claimed she struck Ms. Martinez because:

... she said at one point in time, if the State can't decide their case how can I. You went on to ask her, well, you know it's the State's burden, yes, and could you find him not guilty, yes. But her body language to me and when she said that, if the State can't decide their case how can I, it told me that she was not comfortable with the process and that she was uncomfortable with the idea of having to determine guilt on a person. And I

don't know if it was the language barrier or if that's how she felt, but I need a juror who is able to deliberate and is able to weigh the evidence and is able to then go make a determination...

IV 899.

1.4

With respect to Mr. Aguilar, the prosecutor noted that she unsuccessfully tried to challenge him for cause. IV 898. The prosecutor claimed that Mr. Aguilar had a difficult time answering the questions even with the assistance of an interpreter, and that he appeared confused, nervous, uncomfortable, and unable to comprehend "what was going on." IV 898.

Finally, the prosecutor claimed that Ms. Temple's excusal was "more of a strategic decision based upon who was already on the panel." The prosecutor expressed concern that, until questioned by defense counsel, Ms. Temple withheld the fact that she knew of two individuals who claimed to have been sexually abused. IV 901. One of those individuals, a teenager, fabricated the abuse allegations. IV 901. The prosecutor claimed that Ms. Temple's failure to disclose these relationships until defense counsel's voir dire precluded further inquiry on the subject by the State. IV 901. This, together with Ms. Temple's initial failure to disclose the relationships, made the prosecutor "uncomfortable having her on my jury." IV 901.

# 3. Proof of purposeful discrimination.

1 m 3 cl 5 at 6 w 8 W

The prosecutor's claimed reasons for excusing these jurors were merely a pretext to justify the race-based excusals. While the prosecutor claimed to have excused Ms. Martinez and Mr. Aguilar based upon, *inter alia*, language barrier issues, the prosecutor actually expressed satisfaction with each panelist's comprehension and communication skills early in the voir dire process:

... I don't know if they're [Ms. Martinez and Mr. Aguilar] not under – I mean, they've answered the questions thus far. I don't know if they're saying we don't fell comfortable sitting on a sexual assault trial because there's going to be complicated topics that we might not understand. But, you know, if one has lived here for 10 years and one for 12 years, and they've understood some things thus far, I think it seems though they can at least answer the basic questions that are being posed.

III 577. The trial court agreed. III 577.

Indeed, when questioned on the issue, Ms. Martinez indicated that, even without the assistance of an interpreter, she was able to understand all of the questions asked of the panelists. III 580-81. Mr. Aguilar indicated that he also understood most of the questions posed of the panelists without the assistance of an interpreter. III 582. When questioned with the help of court interpreters, both Ms. Martinez and Mr. Aguilar appeared capable of understanding the questions put to them. III 582-85; IV 791-800; 862-71.

The prosecutor declined the trial court's invitation to question Ms.

Martinez and/or Mr. Aguilar regarding their ability to comprehend questions

asked of them. III 586. Indeed, "The State's failure to engage in any meaningful voir dire examination on a subject the State alleges it is concerned about is evidence suggesting that the explanation is a sham and a pretext for discrimination." Miller-El v. Dretke, 125 S. Ct. 2317, 2329 (2005) (citations omitted); See also Diomampo v. State, 185 P.3d 1036, 1038 (2008).

With respect to the prosecutor's claimed concern over Ms. Martinez' statement: "...if the State can't decide their case how can I," Ms. Martinez actually clarified, at the prosecutor's request, that she understood the government's proof burden; and that she could return a guilty verdict upon a finding of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, as well as a not guilty verdict upon a finding that such proof was lacking. IV 865-71. And the prosecutor offered no specifics regarding Ms. Martinez' purportedly disturbing body language, nor did the trial court make any findings affirming the prosecutor's representations. See IV 908-910. Without an explicit finding by the trial court, this Honorable Court should not credit the prosecution's body language

The prosecutor's 'concern' over Mr. Aguilar's 'discomfort' with the prospect of being involved in the instant trial was unique to Mr. Aguilar. At least one other panelist, Ms. Stiperski (62), expressed similar discomfort with

claim. See Snyder v. Louisiana, 128 S. Ct. 1203, 1209-12 (2008).

the charges. IV 828-29. And at least two others, Panelist 31 and Mr. Iverson (49), expressed concern over the nature of the charges given that each had 11 year-old daughters. IV 693-98; 700-01; 884. Mr. Garwood (48), also indicated discomfort with the instant charges, stating that, as the father of two girls, it would be hard for him to be fair and impartial. IV 720-22. The prosecutor did not attempt to excuse any of these panelists. The prosecutor's failure to dismiss these non-minority panelists suggests that the claimed reasons for the minority dismissals were pretextual. Diomampo, supra 185 P.3d at 1038.

The prosecutor claimed to have excused Ms. Temple because of her failure to disclose her association with the two young sexual abuse complainants when initially canvassed by the trial court. But Ms. Temple did not withhold that information. During her initial canvass, the trial court asked Ms. Temple whether "she or anyone *close* to her" had ever been the victim of a crime, sexual in nature or otherwise. IV 781 (emphasis added). Ms. Temple mentioned that her son was the victim of an attempted murder. IV 781.

While the defense ultimately exercised a peremptory challenge to excuse Mr. Iverson, the record indicates that he was the defense's final excusal. IV 889; 893. Accordingly, it appears as though prosecutors declined to exercise a peremptory challenge to excuse Mr. Iverson. IV 889; 893.

1.4

1.8

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