IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

GUILLERMO RENTERIA-NOVOA,

Appellant,

Case No. 61865

Electronically Filed Oct 07 2013 09:46 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

NANCY L. LEMCKE Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #005416 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

not come tell his side of the story—which was true—Appellant had no reason to give a *false* confession in the process of telling this story in order to escape some further harm or threat. This Court has held such a ruse—not likely to produce an unreliable confession—permissible under <u>Bessey</u>.

As substantial evidence supported the trial court's determination that Appellant voluntarily confessed, this Court should not disturb the trial court's conclusion.

C. <u>Appellant Voluntarily, Knowingly, and Intelligently Waived His Miranda</u> Rights

Appellant next asserts that he did not voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waive his Miranda rights. AOB 37. This claim must likewise fail.

Whether Appellant was in fact in custodial interrogation is not at issue, as Det. Jaeger gave Appellant his <u>Miranda</u> rights and Appellant did, in fact, understand and waive those rights:

[Det. Jaeger]: [Y]ou have the right to remain silent. Anything you say can be used against you in either—in a court of law. You have the right to the presence of an attorney. If you cannot afford an attorney, one will be appointed before questioning. Do you understand your rights?

[Appellant]: Yes.

[Det. Jaeger]: Okay. Um, do you still want to talk to me about Roxana?

. . . .

[Appellant]: I don't want to go see anymore family. I don't want to know nothing about that family. I think what I did a mistake, *but I want to fix it*. Keep—keep me away from her.

. . . .

I know it was a mistake to see her, touch her and do that kind. *But I want to fix this that's starting now*.

I AA 189, 198 (emphasis added).

As the trial court noted, when Det. Jaeger asked Appellant if he was still willing to talk about Roxana, Appellant responded by launching into a narrative about her and how he wanted to fix the mistakes he had made. I AA 415. While Appellant did not literally say "I waive my Miranda rights," he did not have to; as "waiver may be inferred from the actions and words of the person interrogated." Mendoza, 122 Nev. at 277, 130 P.3d at 182. Appellant was demonstrably eager to waive his rights and talk to Det. Jaeger about Roxana.

Moreover, Appellant's explanation that he did not fully comprehend his waiver (as a native Spanish speaker) is not persuasive. Appellant affirmatively answered "Yes" when asked if he was willing to waive his rights. I AA 189. Appellant and Det. Jaeger had a conversation on the phone without any difficulty, and arranged a future meeting at a remote location. II AA 387-88. Det. Jaeger had no problem understanding Appellant on that phone conversation, and had no indication that Appellant could not understand him. <u>Id.</u>

While Appellant did apparently speak heavily-accented English, at no point during the interview could Det. Jaeger not understand him, nor did Appellant give

any indication that he could not understand Det. Jaeger, and Appellant did not ask for an interpreter. II AA 391, 396. Aside from a few clarifications, Appellant's answers were always responsive to the questions Det. Jaeger posed. II AA 392. While Det. Jaeger did not affirmatively procure an interpreter, one was not required. As the trial court pointed out, "it's pretty clear [Appellant did] understand what's going on. In fact, he understands some of the questions that are pretty complex." II AA 416.

Further, the record reflects that Appellant was demonstrably *not* silent after Det. Jaeger read him his rights. The State's use of a defendant's voluntary statements does not violate that person's right to remain silent. See Lamb v. State, 127 Nev. Adv. Op. 3, 251 P.3d 700, 707 (2011). As the trial court did not commit plain error in determining Appellant intelligently and knowingly waived his Miranda rights, and as a preponderance of the evidence demonstrated that Appellant voluntarily waived his Miranda rights, his confession was admissible at trial.

VII. The State Did Not Commit a Brady Violation for Any Alleged Failure to Disclose Allegedly Exculpatory Evidence, and This "Failure" Did Not Prejudice Appellant at Trial

A. Appellant Makes No Showing of a Brady Violation or Resulting Prejudice

Under <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194 (1963), a prosecutor must "disclose evidence favorable to the defense when that evidence is material

either to guilt or to punishment." <u>State v. Huebler</u>, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 19, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), <u>cert. denied</u>, 133 S. Ct. 988, 184 L. Ed. 2d 767 (2013) (citations and quotation marks omitted). Under this standard, evidence is material if there is a reasonable probability that the result would have been different if the evidence had been disclosed. <u>Jimenez v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 610, 619, 918 P.2d 687, 692 (1996). A reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. Id.

To prove a <u>Brady</u> violation, "the accused must make three showings: (1) the evidence is favorable to the accused, either because it is exculpatory or impeaching; (2) the State withheld the evidence, either intentionally or inadvertently; and (3) 'prejudice ensued, i.e., the evidence was material." *Id.* (quoting <u>Mazzan v. Warden</u>, 116 Nev. 48, 67, 993 P.2d 25, 37 (2000)). The State "is charged with constructive knowledge and possession of evidence withheld by other state agents, such as law enforcement officers." <u>Jimenez</u>, 112 Nev. at 620, 918 P.2d at 693.

Appellant claims a <u>Brady</u> violation occurred through the State's alleged failure to provide evidence that Roxana—an illegal immigrant—had received a U visa as a result of the charges against Appellant, which allowed her to stay in this country while the case was pending. AOB 40-41. However, Appellant fails to meet any prong of the Brady requirements.

First, Appellant states this "evidence directly relates to [Roxana's] motive to fabricate and, hence, her credibility." AOB 42. As demonstrated supra in Part VI and infra in Part X, Roxana did not fabricate the charges: Appellant admitted to acts of sexual conduct with her, and the jury heard this. Additionally, the timeline for and rationale behind this alleged "fabrication," ostensibly to receive a benefit, makes no sense. Roxana alerted her family and the authorities of the charges in December 2009, and she didn't receive the U visa until January 2011, more than a year later. V AA 1069-74. Moreover, Roxana revealed the full details of Appellant's offenses more than five full months before she received the U visa. V AA 1081-82. Further, Roxana testified that she had nothing to do with getting the U visa—that it was her mother's decision. V AA 1133-34. This alleged benefit (that Roxana did not even receive until a full year had passed since she went to the authorities—exposing herself and her status as an illegal immigrant to them in the process) is in no way exculpatory for Appellant, especially where the jury heard corroborating evidence that Roxana did not fabricate the charges against Appellant.

Second, the State neither intentionally nor inadvertently withheld this information. The State did not provide Roxana with the U visa, and had *no* information about any U visa, nor did any agent of the state. II AA 361; V AA 1056-57. The only information Appellant received through discovery was a statement in Roxana's counseling records that led Appellant to believe Roxana had

received a U visa. V AA 1076. When pressed, Roxana could not even specifically say which agency she used to apply for the U visa. V AA 1071-72.

Third, any alleged violation was immaterial. The jury heard testimony from Roxana herself that she received a U visa as a result of the charges. <u>Id.</u>, V AA 1133-35. Appellant's trial counsel reiterated the nature of Roxana receiving this "benefit" in closing argument. VI AA 1399. Appellant makes no showing of prejudice as a result of this "exculpatory" evidence, nor can he show even a reasonable possibility that the outcome would have been different if the evidence were disclosed, because Appellant was found guilty notwithstanding its disclosure. V AA 1084-85.

A. <u>Appellant Was Not Entitled to a Mistrial as a Result of an Alleged Brady Violation</u>

Appellant moved for a mistrial as a result of the alleged failure to disclose this evidence, which the trial court denied. V AA 1076, 1083. "It is within the sound discretion of the trial court to determine whether a mistrial is warranted." Meegan v. State, 114 Nev. 1150, 968 P.2d 292, 295 (1998) abrogated on other grounds by Vanisi v. State, 117 Nev. 330, 22 P.3d 1164 (2001). "Absent a clear showing of abuse of discretion, the trial court's determination will not be disturbed on appeal." Id.

Based on Appellant's foregoing failure to demonstrate a <u>Brady</u> violation, the trial court clearly did not abuse its discretion by failing to grant a mistrial, which this Court should not disturb.

VIII. The Trial Court Properly Admitted Evidence of Appellant's Phone Records and Roxana's Phone Number

Appellant next claims that the trial court erred by admitting evidence of his phone records and Roxana's phone number. AOB 44. Again, the decision to admit or exclude evidence is within the sound discretion of the district court, see Johnson, 113 Nev. at 776, 942 P.2d at 170, which this Court will not disturb absent manifest abuse of discretion, see Hughes, 112 Nev. at 88, 910 P.2d at 256.

As the trial court noted, Appellant did not timely object to the introduction of his phone records through AT&T representative Conner McCoy:

Then maybe you should have objected to it before, you know, when I asked you.

. . . .

Well, I mean, the problem is they're already admitted. The jury's already seen them.

VI AA 1235. Therefore, this Court reviews for plain error.

Relevant evidence is generally admissible. <u>See NRS 48.015 & NRS 48.025</u>. Appellant's trial counsel, notwithstanding the tardy objection, attempted to claim that Appellant's phone records were "irrelevant at this point." VI AA 1237. However, Mr. McCoy testified after Roxana. Evidence of Appellant's phone

records—where the jury had already heard testimony from Roxana that Appellant called and texted her dozens of times, and sent her picture messages of her own underwear—was clearly probative to Roxana's claims of abuse. V AA 1037-46. Moreover, the trial court specifically acknowledged that the State was going to "connect it up[,]" with further evidence later, which the State did, and overruled Appellant's trial counsel's tardy objection. VI AA 1237. This admission was not plain error, and the trial court did not manifestly abuse its discretion with its admission.

Appellant timely objected to the introduction of Roxana's phone number as hearsay. VI AA 1268. Therefore, this Court reviews for harmless error. Appellant claims that "Det. Jaeger testified to Roxana's out-of-court statement(s) describing her phone numbers." AOB 47. However, Appellant mischaracterizes Det. Jaeger's testimony at trial. The State laid a foundation for the number that did not require Det. Jaeger to testify to any out-of-court statements from Roxana. VI AA 1270-71. As such, Det. Jaeger actually testified to her phone number from his personal knowledge:

[The State]: Okay. Do you remember [Roxana's] number off the top of your head?

[Det. Jaeger]: I believe Roxana's cell number would be 426-9416.

. . . .

[The State]: How about her home number? Do you remember that number?

[Det. Jaeger]: 731-0162 or something.

VI AA 1284. Det. Jaeger's testimony then demonstrated that Roxana's number matched the number Appellant had called and texted repeatedly. See, e.g. VI AA 1234.

The trial court had discretion to admit this evidence, and Det. Jaeger testified to Roxana's number from his personal knowledge. Moreover, any alleged error was harmless, as the jury heard Appellant's own confession during Det. Jaeger's testimony that he had repeatedly texted and called Roxana. I AA 198-200; VI AA 1290-93. As such, this Court should not disturb the decision of the district court.

IX. Roxana's Statement that Appellant Abused Her "Two, Three Times a Week" Was Not Bad Act Evidence, and Appellant Was Not Prejudiced by Its Admission

A. Roxana's Statement Was Not "Bad Act" Evidence, but Elicited Contemporaneous with Her Testimony About Appellant's Charged Crimes

Appellant alleges that Roxana's single statement that Appellant abused her "two, three times a week[,]" amounted to prejudicial bad act evidence. AOB 49; V AA 984. As Appellant's trial counsel did not object to this evidence at trial, this Court reviews for plain error.

A review of the record demonstrates that Appellant's statement was not elicited in order to show abuse over the course of many years, or to subtly introduce hundreds of other charges. The State specifically asked Roxana how

many times this occurred at the University Apartments, to which she answered "two, three times a week," at which point the State continued to elicit testimony about other specific instances of abuse *at University* that Roxana referenced. II 984-88. As Roxana ultimately testified to three specific instances at University, and the State had a number of charges to match with these instances of abuse, this statement does not even constitute bad act evidence—it was simply a description of the acts Roxana testified to that occurred at University.

B. <u>Should This Court Consider This Statement "Bad Act" Evidence, It's</u> Admission Nevertheless Does Not Warrant Reversal

(1) Standard of Review

"The trial court's determination to admit or exclude evidence of prior bad acts is a decision within its discretionary authority and is to be given great deference." <u>Braunstein v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 68, 72, 40 P.3d 413, 416 (2002). Upon review, this Court will not reverse this decision absent manifest error. Id.

To determine whether this evidence is admissible, the State must demonstrate, at a hearing outside the presence of the jury, that:

(1) the incident is relevant to the crime charged; (2) the act is proven by clear and convincing evidence; and (3) the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

Rhymes v. State, 121 Nev. 17, 21, 107 P.3d 1278, 1281 (2005). Although a hearing is required, the failure to hold such a hearing and make the necessary findings will

not mandate reversal on appeal if "(1) the record is sufficient for this court to determine that the evidence is admissible under the test for admissibility of prior bad act evidence . . . ; or (2) where the result would have been the same if the trial court had not admitted the evidence." <u>Ledbetter v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 252, 259, 129 P.3d 671, 677 (2006); Rhymes, 121 Nev. at 21, 107 P.3d at 1281.

(2) The Admission of This "Evidence" Does Not Warrant Reversal

This evidence was admissible to demonstrate, *inter alia*, opportunity, intent, and absence of mistake or accident—permissible purposes under NRS 48.045(2). Again, as Appellant did not object, this court reviews for plain error.

Clearly, this evidence is relevant under the test as set forth in <u>Rhymes</u>. Second, these acts were proven by Roxana's testimony—the same evidence that ultimately led the Appellant to be convicted of all thirty-six counts he was charged with. II AA 281-90. Third, the probative value of this evidence was not outweighed by unfair prejudice. Appellant's single, passing reference to the repetitive nature of Appellant's conduct did not rise to a sufficiently prejudicial level to warrant reversal, and the State's comment on this in closing argument did not constitute evidence, but proper argument. VI AA 1384-85.

Appellant further alleges that the trial court's failure to "proffer an instruction limiting the jury's consideration of the above-referenced bad act evidence, either upon its admission or in the jury instructions[,]" constituted error.

However, as Appellant failed to object, Appellant makes no showing why a limiting instruction would be given. Moreover, this Court stated in <u>Rhymes</u> that it considers "the failure to give such a limiting instruction to be harmless if the error did not have a substantial and injurious effect or influence the jury's verdict." <u>Rhymes</u>, 121 Nev. at 24, 107 P.3d at 1282. As described <u>supra</u>, based on the passing nature of this "evidence" in conjunction with the other evidence against Appellant, the failure to give such a limiting instruction was clearly harmless and this court should not reverse based on this failure.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting this evidence, and no error, plain from a casual review of the record, exists mandating reversal.

X. <u>Sufficient Evidence Supported Appellant's Thirty-Six Convictions</u>

A. <u>Standard of Review</u>

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